
 

  

1 

CASSADY A. ADAMS 

Assistant U.S. Attorney 

U.S. Attorney’s Office 

P.O. Box 3447 

Great Falls, MT 59403 

119 First Ave. North, #300  

Great Falls, MT 59401 

Phone: (406) 761-7715 

FAX: (406) 453-9973 

Email: Cassady.Adams@usdoj.gov 

 

ATTORNEY FOR PLAINTIFF 
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 GREAT FALLS DIVISION 

 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

                   Plaintiff, 

 

        vs. 

 

ERIC BRUCE FOWLER, 

 

 

                   Defendant. 

 

 
CR 20-30-GF-BMM 

 

UNITED STATES’ RESPONSE 

TO DEFENDANT’S MOTION TO 

SUPPRESS EVIDENCE (Docs. 22-

23) 

INTRODUCTION 

 The defendant, Eric Bruce Fowler, has filed a motion to suppress evidence 

in this case gathered on May 5, 2019. (Docs. 22-23). Fowler asserts that the MHP 
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trooper did not have lawful authority to stop him on the date in question. Doc. 23. 

The government objects to this motion. On the date in question, Trooper Moon had 

lawful authority conferred upon him by the Fort Peck Tribes to conduct 

investigations into tribal offenses on the reservation. Additionally, under the facts 

of this case, the firearms in Fowler’s vehicle would have been discovered under 

any circumstance, irrespective of Trooper Moon’s cross-deputization authority.  

BACKGROUND 

On May 5, 2019, at about 11:12 am, MHP Trooper David Moon was patrolling 

on US Hwy 2 in Roosevelt County, MT.1 He observed an eastbound vehicle turn 

around and drive westbound. He caught up to the vehicle. The vehicle was 

travelling under the posted speed limit. When the trooper got closer, he noticed the 

vehicle did not have a plate or temporary tag. He observed the vehicle drift from 

the white fog line to almost going over the yellow centerline.  

The trooper waited for the vehicle to get into Wolf Point, and then he activated 

his lights for a traffic stop. The vehicle kept travelling westbound and pulled over 

into the Shopko parking lot. The driver (Eric Fowler) got out of the vehicle, and 

the trooper met him at his door. Fowler had a black eye. The trooper told Fowler to 

stay in the vehicle and asked if Fowler had a driver’s license. Fowler stated that he 

                                                 
1 The fact section of this brief is derived from the trooper’s report, Def. Ex. E.  
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did not. Fowler was standing by the door, and the trooper observed a pry bar on the 

floor next to the driver’s seat within easy reach of Fowler.  

The trooper had Fowler move away from the door and searched him for 

weapons. The trooper asked if the vehicle was Fowler’s and Fowler said it was not 

and that he was just working on it. Fowler said the vehicle was overheating and he 

wanted to shut it off. When asked if the trooper could shut it off, Fowler said that 

the passenger (Jettison McClammy) could. Due to Fowler’s black eye, the trooper 

asked if he was alright. The trooper asked McClammy to look for registration and 

insurance, and he allowed Fowler to open the hood due to steam coming from 

under the hood.  

While McClammy was looking for the paperwork, the trooper observed an 

unopened Steel Reserve alcoholic drink in the center cup holder. On the rear floor 

of the vehicle was a rifle with a scope.  

Due to the weapons in the vehicle, the trooper had McClammy get out of the 

vehicle. He had both occupants wait behind the vehicle while he got their names 

and dates of birth. The trooper had dispatch run the driver and passenger. At that 

time, the trooper learned from Dispatch that Fowler was registered as a violent 

offender and his Fowler’s license was revoked. The trooper told Fowler that he 

was going to issue him a citation for traffic offenses. He asked Fowler if he was on 
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probation or parole. Fowler said he was on state probation with Bruce Barstad. The 

trooper asked if Fowler is allowed to have a firearm, and Fowler said that the 

vehicle was not his and he was just working on it. When asked who owned the 

vehicle, Fowler told the trooper that Kevin Jackson owned it.  

 McClammy was searched for weapons by a Wolf Point Police Department 

officer, and it was discovered that she had a tribal warrant.  

Trooper Moon spoke with Fowler about Fowler’s probation. Fowler said he had 

just gotten back from treatment in Wyoming. Fowler said he was just test driving 

the vehicle. The trooper had Fowler sit in the rear passenger seat of his patrol car. 

The trooper called Parole Officer Bruce Barstad. Barstad recommended that the 

trooper seize the firearm because Fowler is a felon. When asked, the trooper told 

Barstad that the rifle was easy to see behind the bucket seats and he did not see 

how anyone could get in the vehicle and not see the gun. The trooper seized the 

vehicle.  

Trooper Moon issued Fowler tribal citations (Government Exhibit 3) and a 

warning, and Fowler left on foot.2 The trooper deployed his K-9, Sammy, on the 

vehicle. Sammy indicated to the presence of illegal drug odors. 

                                                 
2Fowler’s brief claims that the trooper arrested Fowler. Doc. 23 at 2. This is 

incorrect. See Def. Ex. E at 7.  
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The trooper subsequently obtained a tribal search warrant for the vehicle. He 

found a number of items, including two firearms (one of which was a sawed-off 

shotgun), and ammunition.  

ISSUES 

 The United States believes the following issues are in dispute: 

1. Whether the MHP Trooper had legal authority to stop Fowler’s vehicle. 

2. Whether the evidence (namely, firearms and ammunition) in Fowler’s 

vehicle would have been found in any circumstance, under the doctrine of 

inevitable discovery. 

ARGUMENT  

I. The MHP Trooper had lawful authority, conferred by the Tribes, to 

stop Fowler. 

 

A. The cross-deputization agreement between the Fort Peck Tribes 

and MHP, as well as tribal law and tribal resolutions, gave the 

MHP trooper lawful authority to stop Fowler’s vehicle.  

 

 MHP Trooper Moon had authority to conduct the traffic stop of Fowler on 

the date in question based on (1) the Cross-Deputization Agreement (Government 

Exhibit 1), (2) Fort Peck tribal law, and (3) Fort Peck tribal resolutions conferring 

such authority on him (Government Ex. 2). 

1. The cross-deputization agreement establishes authority for 

cross-deputized MHP troopers to enforce tribal law on the 

Fort Peck Reservation.  
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The cross-deputization agreement between the Fort Peck Tribes and its 

partner agencies, including MHP, established the authority for cross-deputized 

officers, such as Trooper Moon, to act as a tribal law enforcement officers on the 

Fort Peck Indian Reservation.  

“An Indian tribe’s authority to enforce criminal laws on tribal land is 

nuanced. On tribal land, a tribe has inherent powers as a separate sovereign to 

enforce criminal laws, but only as to its tribal members and nonmember Indians.” 

United States v. Cooley, 919 F.3d 1135, 1141 (9th Cir. 2019) (on appeal to the U.S. 

Supreme Court) (citing United States v. Lara, 541 U.S. 193, 197-99 (2004)). See 

also 25 U.S.C. 1301 et seq. (constitutional rights of Indians and authority of tribal 

courts - generally). The Fort Peck Tribes continue to exercise substantial criminal 

jurisdiction over Indians on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation. See generally Fort 

Peck Tribes Comprehensive Code of Justice, available at 

https://static1.squarespace.com/static/594c44e12cba5ec4cb294563/t/5dae246e499b

5e7b46c93010/1571693695114/CCOJ-Complete-10-21-19+protected.pdf 

(accessed August 16, 2020). In exercising this authority, the Fort Peck Tribes 

entered into a cross-deputization agreement with the Montana Highway Patrol, as 

well as other law enforcement agencies, in 2000. See Government Exhibit 1.  
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By entering into this contract, the Tribes agreed, among other things to 

confer tribal deputization to approved state officers of the respective partner 

agencies. Id. Notably, the purpose of the agreement is described, in part, “The 

parties, having conferred together on a government-to-government basis, agree that 

pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, certain officers of the local jurisdictions 

and MHP will be appointed as commissioned law enforcement officers of the 

Tribes. . . .” Ex. 1 at 4 (emphasis added). The agreement also sets forth the process 

by which an officer from another agency, such as MHP, is commissioned by the 

Tribes. Id. Once an officer is commissioned by the Tribe, “[u]nless limited by its 

own terms, each commission shall confer the same law enforcement authority on 

the commissioned officer as that of the officers in the commissioning agency.” Ex. 

1 at 6-7. 

The agreement specifically confers authority to cross-deputized officers to 

enforce Tribal law: 

Law enforcement officers commissioned by the Tribes, when acting 

within the Reservation, shall have the same authority to arrest Indians 

for violations . . . of the Tribal code and shall have the same authority 

to issue citations and/or summonses and to accept bond as officers of 

the Tribes.  

 

Ex. 1 at 8. 
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Trooper Moon was acting pursuant to this authority in this case, when he 

issued Fowler a tribal citation.  

2. The Fort Peck tribal code codifies the cross-deputization 

agreement.  

 

 This cross-deputization authority provided for in the above agreement has 

also been codified in the Fort Peck Tribal Code, providing additional affirmation 

for the agreement and the authority of cross-deputized officers, such as Trooper 

Moon: 

Sec. 208. State and local law enforcement officials authorized to make arrests. 

(a) All law enforcement officials vested with general law enforcement 

authority by the State of Montana, or by any County or City within the 

boundaries of the Fort Peck Reservation and approved by Executive 

Board on recommendation of the safety committee, are hereby 

authorized to arrest Indians on any highway on the Reservation or 

within the boundaries of the cities of the Reservation for violations of 

the Tribal Code of Justice. Each jurisdiction shall from time to time 

submit the names of new law enforcement officials to the safety 

committee for approval. 

 

(b) Upon arresting any Indian as authorized by this Section, such law 

enforcement officials shall promptly deliver the individual to the Tribal 

Court or to the appropriate tribal law enforcement officers for action 

under tribal laws. 

 

Fort Peck CCOJ § 3-2-208. 

3. The Fort Peck Tribal Council issues resolutions applicable 

to Trooper Moon, authorizing cross-deputization authority 

for him.  
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 In addition to the general agreement between MHP and the Tribes (along 

with other agencies) that was in effect at the time of the traffic stop in this case, the 

Fort Peck Tribal Council passed two resolutions reaffirming Trooper Moon’s 

authority to enforce tribal law on the reservation. See Exhibit 2. Specifically, Fort 

Peck Tribes Resolution # 27-1309-2014-11 granted Trooper Moon arrest authority 

on the Fort Peck Reservation, pursuant to the cross-deputization agreement. 

Thereafter, Resolution # 28-0291-2016-01 extended officers’ (including Trooper 

Moon’s) cross-deputization authority continuously, “unless specifically suspended 

or revoked. . . .” Ex. 2 at 1. 

 Given the documents described above, it is apparent that Trooper Moon had 

lawful arrest authority on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation conferred to him by the 

Fort Peck Tribes in his position as a trooper for the Montana Highway Patrol. 

Fowler’s argument fails.  

B. The Fort Peck Tribes’ cross-deputization agreement and 

corresponding tribal code has been upheld in the District of 

Montana before.  

 

The Fort Peck Tribes’ cross-deputization agreement and corresponding tribal 

law has been upheld in federal court in this district before, and they should be 

similarly recognized in Fowler’s case.  
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 Specifically, in 2018, the Great Falls Division U.S. District Court 

considered whether a city officer who was cross-deputized on the Fort Peck Indian 

Reservation acted lawfully when the officer arrested a defendant for tribal 

offenses. See Fourstar v. Riden, No. CV 18-111-GF-SPW, 2018 WL 6421736 (D. 

Mont. Dec. 6, 2018) (unpublished). The defendant, Fourstar, claimed that “officers 

acted ‘without criminal jurisdiction’ and ‘pursuant to illegal state-county-city-

tribal-federal cross-deputization agreement.’” Id. at *1. Therefore, he asserted, the 

tribal conviction that caused his federal supervised release to be revoked was 

invalid for the same reason. Id.  

 The district court disagreed with Fourstar and recognized the validity of the 

cross-deputization agreement with the Fort Peck Tribes—and the corresponding 

tribal code provision: 

The “cross-deputization agreement” is not an agreement but a provision 

of the Fort Peck Tribes’ governing law, equivalent to a section of the 

United States Code or the Montana Code . . . . The Tribes have, to this 

limited extent, made the State’s agents tribal agents and authorized 

them to exercise tribal jurisdiction. . . . Therefore, when . . . an officer 

for the City of Wolf Point arrested a tribal member on the Reservation 

for tribal offenses and turned the tribal member over to a tribal officer 

for transport to the tribal jail, she necessarily acted under color of tribal 

law.  

 

Id. at *2. See also Fort Peck Tribes v. Big Talk, No. 335, 3 Am. Tribal Law 356 

(Fort Peck Court of Appeals 2001) (Upholding authority of municipal police 

officer to arrest defendant for violations of tribal law based on Fort Peck Tribal 

Code conferring such authority to the officer.) 
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 In this case, the conclusion is nearly identical—Trooper Moon had lawful 

authority to stop Fowler’s vehicle (and issue him a tribal traffic citation) just as the 

cross-deputized officer in Fourstar had authority to arrest Fourstar for a tribal 

offense.  

Finally, the case United States v. McGirt, 140 S. Ct. 2452 (2020), relied 

upon by Fowler, is distinguishable because the defendant in McGirt was 

unlawfully prosecuted in state court. Here, Fowler was issued a tribal summons for 

his traffic infraction, and he was later indicted on federal charges for possession of 

the firearms in his vehicle. The state of Montana has never sought to exercise 

jurisdiction over Fowler whatsoever in any actions arising from this case, and the 

trooper was acting as a tribal officer when he investigated this matter.  

B. SLEC is not relevant to this case. 

 

SLEC is not relevant to this case whatsoever. Fowler confuses “SLEC” 

deputization, which gives an officer authority to enforce federal law, with cross-

deputization to enforce tribal law. Specifically, he states, “[A]s it concerns the 

cross-deputization agreement for the Fort Peck, Assiniboine and Sioux Tribes . . . 

they failed to comply with 25 USC 1326 . . . by failing ‘to gain the BIA’s signatory 

approval’ . . . . The tribes’ agreement ‘does not meet the requirements of an official 

BIA SLEC deputization agreement.’” Doc. 23 at 3. Essentially, Fowler asserts that 
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because Trooper Moon was not SLEC-certified, he could not conduct a traffic 

stop.3 Doc. 23 at 3-5. This is incorrect.  

“Special law enforcement commission” or “SLEC,” for short, is a specific, 

narrow type of cross-deputization that allows an officer to essentially act as a BIA 

agent and enforce federal law on an Indian Reservation. See, e.g., Def. Ex. C at 1 

(“The District SAC may enter into Deputation Agreement with tribal, Federal, state 

or other government agencies to aid in the enforcement or carrying out of Federal 

laws in Indian country.”) (emphasis added). SLEC-certified officers are able to 

conduct federal investigations and make arrests for violations of federal law in 

Indian Country much the same as a BIA agent or an FBI agent might: 

With a Special Law Enforcement Commission, a Tribal police officer, 

employed by a Tribal justice agency, can exercise essentially the same 

arrest powers as a Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA) officer assigned to 

                                                 
3 Fowler states that the Fort Peck Tribes “failed to comply with 25 U.S.C. § 1326 

by ‘failing to fain the BIA’s signatory approval.’” Doc. 23 at 3. This statute—25 

U.S.C. § 1326—is not relevant to this issue in this case. The statute (also known as 

“Public Law 280”) allows an Indian tribe to elect to submit to state criminal and 

civil jurisdiction. See 25 U.S.C. § 1326. In Montana, for example, the 

Confederated Salish and Kootenai Tribes of the Flathead Reservation have elected 

to submit to state criminal jurisdiction. See Mont. Code Ann. § 2-1-301. Therefore, 

crimes arising on the Flathead Indian Reservation are generally prosecuted in state 

court. However, the Assiniboine and Sioux Tribes of Fort Peck have not elected to 

submit to state criminal jurisdiction. Therefore, Major Crimes and General Crimes 

that occur on Fort Peck are prosecuted in federal court, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§  

1152 and 1153, and the Tribe prosecutes other crimes in tribal court. On Fort Peck, 

for example, traffic offenses committed by tribal members are prosecuted in tribal 

court, not state or federal court. See Title 17, Fort Peck CCOJ.  
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Indian country, without compensation by the Federal government. BIA 

policy states that SLECs are to be issued or renewed at the BIA’s Office 

of Justice Services (OJS) discretion and only when a legitimate law 

enforcement need requires issuance. SLECs enable BIA to obtain active 

assistance in the enforcement of applicable Federal criminal statutes. 

The issuance of a SLEC requires an agreement with a Tribal 

government law enforcement agency, called a “deputization 

agreement.” As the SLEC is to aid in the enforcement or carrying out 

applicable Federal laws in Indian country, it should enable a Tribal 

police officer to make an arrest for a violation of the General Crimes 

Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1152, or the Major Crimes Act, 18 U.S.C. § 1153, at 

least in the non-P.L. 83-280 States and Tribal jurisdictions. 

 

“Chapter 4: Intergovernmental Cooperation: Establishing Working Relationships 

that Transcend Jurisdictional Lines,” A Roadmap for Making Native America 

Safer – Indian Law & Order Commission Report to the President and Congress, 

available at 

https://www.aisc.ucla.edu/iloc/report/files/Chapter_4_Intergovernmental.pdf 

(emphasis added) (Nov. 2013) (accessed August 16, 2020).  

 

In this case, it matters not whether Trooper Moon—or any other officer, for 

that matter—was SLEC-certified. The trooper was not purporting to act pursuant to 

any federal authority when he stopped Fowler for a traffic offense. He was acting 

pursuant to his authority as an MHP trooper who was cross-deputized by the Tribes 

to enforce tribal traffic law. See, e.g., United States v. Patch, 114 F.3d 131, 134 n. 

2 (9th Cir. 1997) (acknowledging that Arizona cross-deputization agreements with 

Indian tribes may “permit officers of both jurisdictions to enforce traffic laws on 

state highways crossing tribal lands.”). That is, in this case, Trooper Moon was 

acting upon authority conferred to him from the Tribes. See Section I, supra. No 
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federal laws were implicated whatsoever by the trooper stopping Fowler for 

committing a traffic offense, and contrary to Fowler’s assertion, SLEC certification 

is not required to stop an individual for committing a traffic violation. 

Additionally, to be clear, the fact that the BIA determined that “[t]he tribe’s 

agreement does not meet the requirements of an official BIA SLEC deputization 

agreement” has no bearing on whether a trooper who is cross-deputized under the 

agreement can enforce tribal law. The BIA letter (Exhibit B) simply notified the 

tribal chairman that “Any and all parties to this agreement are not considered 

[SLEC] officers, nor are they considered federal employees under the same 

process.” Def. Ex. B. The government has never asserted that Trooper Moon is a 

federal employee, and his lack of federal law enforcement status has no bearing on 

this case.  

II. Trooper Moon did not need to be cross-deputized in order to effectuate 

a traffic stop, and the firearms found in Fowler’s vehicle would have 

been discovered in any circumstance. 

 

In this case, Trooper Moon did not need to be cross-deputized in order to 

effectuate a traffic stop. Furthermore, the firearms in Fowler’s vehicle would have 

been discovered under any circumstance. Even if Trooper Moon had not been 

cross-deputized on the date of the traffic stop, Trooper Moon was still authorized 

to conduct a traffic stop to ascertain the identity of the vehicle’s occupants and 
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determine whether they were tribal members. During that very limited initial 

investigation to ascertain Fowler’s identity, the Trooper learned that (1) Fowler is a 

violent offender (and serving a sentence), and (2) he observed the firearm in plain 

view in Fowler’s vehicle. At that point, the vehicle with the firearm could not have 

been released back to Fowler under any circumstance.  

The Ninth Circuit considered the issue of a non-cross-deputized state 

officer’s authority to conduct a traffic stop on an Indian Reservation in Patch, 114 

F.3d 131. In Patch, the Ninth Circuit held that a deputy (who was not cross-

deputized) had authority under Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1 (1968), to stop an 

offending vehicle on a state highway in Indian Country to ascertain the identity of 

the vehicle’s operator and determine whether he had jurisdiction over the traffic 

offense. Patch, 114 F.3d at 134. “As a practical matter, without a stop and inquiry, 

it is impossible for an Arizona officer to tell who is operating an offending 

vehicle.” Id. at 133-34.  

Thus, even if Trooper Moon had not been cross-deputized, he would have 

had authority to stop Fowler to ascertain his identity, and thereafter detain Fowler 

for a reasonable period of time in order to turn him over to tribal—or federal—

authorities. Cf. Bressi v. Ford, 575 F.3d 891, 896 (9th Cir. 2009) (“If the violator 
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turns out to be a non-Indian, the tribal officer may detain the violator and deliver 

him or her to state or federal authorities.”).  

Given that the trooper was authorized to conduct a stop irrespective of his 

cross-deputization status, the inevitable discovery doctrine applies to this case. 

This exception to the exclusionary rule and allows for the admission of evidence 

that might otherwise be excluded “if the government can prove that the evidence 

would have been obtained inevitably and, therefore, would have been admitted 

regardless of any overreaching by the police . . . .” United States v. Reilly, 224 F.3d 

986, 994 (9th Cir. 2000) (citing Nix v. Williams, 467 U.S. 431, 447 (1984)). In 

order for the inevitable discovery exception to apply, the government “must show 

by a preponderance of the evidence that the contraband or other material seized 

would have been discovered inevitably by lawful means.” United States v. 

Andrade, 784 F.2d 1431, 1433 (9th Cir. 1986) (citation omitted). 

In this case, the inevitable discovery doctrine applies. Even if the trooper 

had not sought a tribal search warrant and searched the vehicle as part of a criminal 

investigation, the vehicle would have been searched under any circumstance 

because the trooper learned early on in the traffic stop, during the course of 

confirming Fowler’s identity, that the vehicle contained a gun and that Fowler was 

a violent offender.  
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Practically speaking, even if the trooper were not cross-deputized to give 

Fowler a tribal traffic citation, the trooper could not release the vehicle back to 

Fowler knowing that the vehicle had a gun in it, and also knowing that Fowler was 

a violent offender (and, thereafter, that Fowler was serving his sentence at the 

time). At the moment the trooper learned of Fowler’s legal status, the vehicle 

would have been seized no matter what because it contained a firearm: had the 

trooper not seized it, then tribal law enforcement would have.  

Furthermore, law enforcement could not release a vehicle back to the owner 

that they knew contained a firearm in it. Thus, officers would have had to conduct 

an inventory search for public safety and officer safety to ensure that the vehicle’s 

contents were documented—and all of the dangerous and illegal items were 

removed—before it could be released back to the registered owner. See United 

States v. Springfield, 699 Fed. App’x 661 (9th Cir. 2017); Illinois v. Lafayette, 462 

U.S. 640, 643 (1983) (The inventory search is “a well-defined exception to the 

warrant requirement,” and probable cause to search the item is irrelevant); 

Colorado v. Bertine, 479 U.S. 367 (1987); United States v. Caseres, 533 F.3d 

1064, 1074 (9th Cir. 2008) (“A lawfully impounded vehicle may be searched for 

the purpose of determining its condition and contents at the time of impounding.”).  
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Similarly, the evidence in this case also would have been discovered 

regardless of any search warrant under a related legal theory called the 

“community caretaking doctrine.” United States v. Torres, 828 F.3d 1113, 1118 

(9th Cir. 2016). This rule allows law enforcement to impound and search a vehicle 

without a warrant as long as they comply with standard procedures of their local 

police department and do so in order to fulfill a community caretaking purpose, 

like promoting public safety. Id. 

 That said, the Court need not even decide this issue because, as explained in 

Section I, Trooper Moon was cross-deputized to enforce tribal law on the Fort 

Peck Indian Reservation on the date in question. 

CONCLUSION 

 

For the foregoing reasons, the United States respectfully requests that this 

Court deny Fowler’s motion to suppress.  

DATED this 17th day of August, 2020. 

KURT G. ALME 

United States Attorney 

 

/s/ Cassady A. Adams     

CASSADY A. ADAMS 

Assistant U. S. Attorney 
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NOTICE OF POTENTIAL WITNESSES 

 

The United States may call the following witnesses at the motion hearing in 

this case: 

1. MHP Trooper David Moon 

2. Capt. Jim Summers – Fort Peck Tribes Department of Law and Justice 

3. SCI Kenny Trottier – Fort Peck Tribes Department of Law and Justice 

The United States may seek to supplement this notice in the future.  
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NOTICE OF EXHIBITS 

The United States has submitted the following exhibits in support of this 

response: 

1. 2000 Cross-Deputization Agreement with Fort Peck Tribes and MHP 

2. Tribal Resolutions Concerning MHP Trooper Moon’s cross- 

deputization authority on the Fort Peck Indian Reservation 

3. Tribal court citations issued to Eric Fowler on May 5, 2019 

The United States may seek to supplement these exhibits prior to the motion 

hearing date in this case.  
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CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE 

 

 Pursuant to local rule, the attached response is proportionately spaced, has a 

typeface of 14 points or more, and contains 3,889 words.  

/s/Cassady A. Adams 

Assistant United States Attorney 

Attorney for Plaintiff /Respondent 
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